1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 Electronically Filed Dec 02 2015 12:59 plm. 3 Case No.: Clerk of Supreme Court CHRISTOPHER D. DAVIS, 4 5 Appellant, Eighth Judicial District Court v. Case No.: P-15-083867-T (In re 6 the Beatrice B. Davis Family 7 CAROLINE DAVIS, Heritage Trust, dated July 28, 8 2000) Respondent. 9 10 11 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 12 13 14 ROLAND LAW FIRM ANTHONY L. BARNEY, LTD. 15 16 Anthony L. Barney, Esq. et H. Roland, Esq. 17 Nevada Bar No. 5471 Nevada Bar No. 8366 18 2470 E. St. Rose Pkwy, Ste. 105 3317 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite B Henderson, NV 89074 Las Vegas, NV 89102 19 Telephone: (702) 452-1500 Telephone: (702) 438-7878 20 Facsimile: (702) 920-8903 Fac

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a trust action commenced in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Probate Division ("DC") involving the Beatrice B. Davis Family Heritage Trust dated July 28, 2000 ("FHT"). The original petitioner, Caroline Davis ("Caroline") sought to obtain in rem jurisdiction and in personam jurisdiction over the trust and a purported investment trust adviser under a theory of constructive trust for the primary purpose of obtaining personal documents and personal financial documents from Christopher Davis ("Christopher") for over a seven-year period. The alleged appointment of Christopher as purported investment trust adviser purportedly occurred, however, less than one year prior to Caroline's filing of her request for the DC to assume jurisdiction over FHT. Pursuant to the terms of FHT a trustee does not have to examine the accounts, records or acts of a prior trustee. yet Caroline, a non-resident, was requiring personal documents from Christopher Davis, another non-resident, when he was clearly not a fiduciary, without complying with Nevada's long-arm statute.

An appeal was sought under NRS 155.190(h), since an investment trust adviser might be considered a type of trustee under the directed trustee statutes of NRS 163. If the investment trust adviser was not found to be a type of trustee governed under NRS 155.190(h), then a Writ of Prohibition and/or Mandamus was filed (See Case #68948).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 10, 2015, a trust beneficiary, Caroline D. Davis ("Caroline") requested the court assume jurisdiction over FHT, over Dunham Trust Company as directed trustee, over Stephen K. Lehnardt as distribution trust advisor, and over Christopher D. Davis ("Christopher") as investment trust advisor, as well as the disclosure of documents and information from Christopher ("Original Petition"). The only acts alleged against Christopher were those purportedly in his individual capacity, as the beneficiary or trustee of another trust, or as the sole manager of a Missouri Limited Liability Company.¹

Caroline was also attempting to obtain information on policy loans borrowed by the FHT trustees and used for administrative expenses, loans to Christopher, loans to Beatrice Davis, and other family entities. The majority of these loans (98.3% of the total amounts she pled in the Petition) had been effectuated prior to Christopher's alleged appointment as investment trust advisor and were made outside of Nevada with the approval of Alaska Trust Company and the Alaska USA Trust Company ("Alaska Trustee"). The other 1.7% of the loan amount being sought was admittedly a fee paid to the Trust Protector and trust

¹ See Appendix I: 8-9; Paragraphs 23, 24.

² See Appendix I:6-7.

drafter, Stephen K. Lehnardt by Dunham Trust Company, the purported Nevada trustee.³

All other references to Christopher in the Petition were to allege Christopher's purported roles in relation to the FHT.⁴ The Petition did not allege claims or acts performed by any party in Nevada. The Petition was mailed to various parties, but personal service was not effectuated on any party.⁵ Christopher is not a resident of nor does he reside in Nevada.⁶ Caroline is not a Nevada resident.⁷ Christopher has not appeared at any court proceeding in Nevada.

The primary asset of the FHT and FHT Holdings LLC is the Ashley Cooper Life Insurance Policy from which the loans were taken.⁸ The life insurance policy has a Grand Cayman custodian and its administrative office is in Puerto Rico.⁹ Caroline was in receipt of this information and attached it to her Original Petition.¹⁰

³ See Appendix IX:1418: lines 3-7.

⁴ See Appendix I:3:12 and I:8:26.

⁵ The Court can take judicial notice under NRS 47.130 that neither a summons nor a citation was ever issued or served upon any party.

⁶ Appendix VI:978:27.

Appendix IX:1540; Appendix X:1611

⁸ See Appendix I:4: lines 16-17.

⁹ See Appendix I:148.

¹⁰ See Appendix

Notably, the DC was made aware of a pending lawsuit in Missouri, and noted that these alleged acts were in Missouri where Christopher had contact with those states.¹¹ The DC was also made aware at subsequent hearings of the lawsuit in Missouri under which Christopher was providing documents to Caroline.¹²

Additionally, the FHT was an express spendthrift trust settled by a Missouri resident under Alaska law with an Alaskan Trustee.¹³ The FHT required the consent of all beneficiaries thereunder and the opinion or advice from legal counsel before the trustee was enabled to change the situs from Alaska.¹⁴ The Alaska Trustee resigned on December 5, 2013 and had not obtained an opinion from its own counsel as required by the FHT¹⁵ before the FHT situs was allegedly changed on February 24, 2014.¹⁶ The requisite consent from all beneficiaries was

¹¹ See Appendix IX:1408: lines 3-20.

Mr. Barney: "...They've actually filed suit out in Missouri and do you know why they filed suit in Missouri, Your Honor? Because when they raise the issue that they're trying to get jurisdiction over Christopher as – in his capacity belonging to the revocable trust and other capacities, they realize: You know what? We can't get that here so we're—"

Court: "That's Missouri. But, you know, he's at least got contacts with those states..."

¹² See Appendix IX:1545-1546, 1552, 1556, 1559.

 $_{27}$ \parallel_{14}^{13} Appendix I:13.

¹⁴ Appendix I:110.

¹⁵ Appendix VI:977-979

¹⁶ Appendix I:133-144

6

4

10

12 13

14 15

16

17 18

19

20

21 22

23

24 25

26

27

28

wife)

¹⁸ See Appendix III:391-392; 407, lines 18-21.

also lacking.¹⁷ Stephen Lenhardt, the drafter and protector of the trust, admitted through counsel that the change in situs was not done according to the terms of the FHT, identifying the lack of condition precedent.¹⁸

Christopher filed a motion to dismiss based upon Caroline's failure to join the Alaska Trustee who had the information she requested; for the Court's lack of jurisdiction over Christopher; for Caroline's lack of service and service of process upon Christopher personally, as purported investment trust advisor or as manager of FHT Holdings, LLC; and the parties failure to follow the terms of the FHT to change the situs such as the lack of consent by all beneficiaries and failure of the Alaskan Trustees to obtain an opinion of counsel regarding the change in trust situs.¹⁹ In May 2015, the DC heard argument on the motion to dismiss and, on July 1, 2015, the DC denied the motions to dismiss, and purportedly assumed jurisdiction over the FHT, Dunham Trust Company, and Christopher under a theory of constructive trust, which was pled orally by counsel for Caroline.²⁰ In an attempt to subsequently substantiate the July 1, 2015 Order, the DC later ruled that it had jurisdiction over Christopher, based solely upon its assumption that Christopher had acted in Nevada, although no such allegations had been raised in

¹⁷ See Appendix V:478-483 (consent not received by Tarja Davis, Christopher's

¹⁹ See Appendix II:298:9-12 and Appendix III:350-375

the initial pleading or at that hearing.²¹ Christopher timely filed a notice of appeal on the order under NRS 155.190(h).

Before and after the July 1, 2015 Order, Caroline issued subpoenas and notices of deposition for personal documents and testimony from Christopher and his attorneys, for over seven years.²² This time period went far beyond Christopher's purported role as an alleged fiduciary (which purportedly occurred, if at all under Caroline's pleadings, at the earliest date of February 24, 2014) and was at a time when Christopher was simply a beneficiary of FHT like Caroline. Caroline also requested documentation from Christopher for FHT Holdings, LLC, a Nevada entity that is admittedly not a party to the proceeding.²³ Caroline's requests and were directed toward Christopher, personally and in various alleged

²⁰ See Appendix III:406:6 and Appendix III: 437:18-19.

²¹ See Appendix IX:1440: 23-25, 1441:1 where the DC indicates, "... he's been acting here, I have to assume because stuff has been going on, apparently giving instruction to Dunham and I just think that means he's consented to the jurisdiction of this Court."

Caroline's subpoenas requested information for the following: the Beatrice B Davis Revocable living trust; The Davis Family Office; Companies owned by the Beatrice B. Davis revocable living trust; Any companies which Christopher D. Davis is the owner, manager, director, or officer which have a business or financial relationship with the Beatrice B. Davis Revocable Living Trust; promissory notes dated prior to Christopher's alleged appointment as investment trust advisor; and any loans currently held by the Beatrice B. Davis Family Heritage Trust. See Appendix VIII:1262-1272. None of these requests can be justified by any purported *in rem* jurisdiction over the current trustee or even any purported *in rem* jurisdiction regarding Christopher's alleged role as investment trust adviser.

roles or capacities outside the jurisdiction of the DC; therefore, such requests would have necessitated an assumption of *in personam* jurisdiction, which the DC did not have.

Christopher filed a petition for reconsideration of the July 1, 2015 order.²⁴ Caroline also filed a motion to amend the July 1, 2015 order, providing evidence that Caroline was aware of the defective basis upon which the DC asserted jurisdiction.²⁵ Caroline admitted that she did not seek *in personam* jurisdiction over Christopher personally.²⁶ Christopher opposed Caroline's Motion to Amend because she had based her request to amend the order on alleged fraud by Christopher's attorney.²⁷ Caroline's statements in the Motion to Amend were misrepresentations to the Court, and, after Christopher made a NCRP 11 request to Caroline's counsel, they were withdrawn from the record.²⁸

Due to the absence of *in rem* and *in personam* jurisdiction over Christopher, Christopher requested that Caroline's counsel postpone his September deposition but she refused.²⁹ Christopher would not subject himself to Nevada's jurisdiction, which is currently in dispute, and, as a non-party witness, travel accommodations

²³ See Appendix IX:1470:lines 21-23

²⁴ See Appendix IV:446-477.

²⁵ See Appendix V:795-836

²⁶ See Appendix V:718:15-19

²⁷ See Appendix VIII:1332-1357.

²⁸ See Appendix VII:1119-1138

had not been made for him to appear in Nevada, which is several hundred miles from his residence.³⁰ Christopher and his attorneys filed motions and requested protective orders and stays to halt the improper exercise of jurisdiction and burdensome production for on out-of-state resident.³¹

At the September 2, 2015 hearing on the three petitions/motions: 1) Petition for Reconsideration, 2) Motion to Amend and 3) Motion for Protective Order or to Quash or Modify the Subpoena, the Court indicated that it could not rule on the motions/petitions, but it was allowing discovery under this Court's holdings in *Viega GmbH v. Eighth Judicial DC*, 328 P.3d 1152 (Nev. 2014) (hereinafter "Viega") and *Fulbright & Jaworski v. Eighth Judicial DC*, 342 P.3d 997 (Nev. 2015) (hereinafter "Fulbright") and stated that the "purpose and intent of taking jurisdiction initially was to figure out jurisdiction." The DC also noted its jurisdictional error³³ and further acknowledged that FHT Holdings, LLC was not a party in the case. ³⁴

²⁹ See Appendix VIII: 1197-1201.

³⁰ See Appendix VIII:1185-1221.

³¹ See Appendix VIII:1185-1221; 1239-1285 and Appendix IX:1461, lines 7-8.

³² See Appendix IX:1449: 17-19

³³ See Appendix IX:1450: 23-25 and 1451:1; "I was wrong in accepting Mr. Solomon's description of that as a constructive trust. Technically, you're right [speaking to Christopher's counsel]. It's not a constructive trust…"

⁴ See Appendix IX: 1470: 9-14, 21-23; 1472:12-25.

14

15 16

17

18 19

20

21

22 23

24

25

27

28

³⁸ Appendix X:1648-1649.

³⁹ Appendix IX:1540; Appendix X: 1611; The DC belatedly found in personam jurisdiction despite the lack of allegations or factual findings.

Despite the realization of its jurisdictional error and the overbreadth of Caroline's subpoenas and notices, the DC declined to rule on Christopher's motion for a protective order or to quash or modify Caroline's subpoena and, instead, desired that the discovery commissioner rule on any objections at the deposition in its attempt to have Christopher submit to its jurisdiction by appearance.³⁵ Not only were Christopher's motion for protective order, to modify or quash the subpoena and request for stay denied, likewise, the Roland Law Firm's request for protective order was denied, in part.³⁶

Then, at the hearing on September 30, 2015, the DC threatened discovery sanctions against Christopher for failing to appear for his deposition and providing documents.³⁷ The DC also required that initial disclosures be exchanged between the parties.³⁸ A motion was filed in this matter to stay the DC court proceedings until the Writ of Prohibition and/or Mandamus or this Appeal could be resolved and was subsequently granted on October 22, 2015. It should be noted that after the appeal was filed, the DC made sua sponte findings at subsequent hearings to substantiate its July 1, 2015 Order with the missing jurisdictional findings.³⁹

³⁵ See Appendix IX:1472-1474.

³⁶ See Appendix IX:1589-1592; Appendix X:1639: lines 20-25; 1640: lines 1-5.

³⁷ See Id, Appendix X:1642: lines 16-25; 1643: lines 1-3.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The salient issues of the entire case are whether the DC properly assumed *in* rem jurisdiction over the trust and the role of trust investment adviser and whether the DC could assume *in personam* jurisdiction over Christopher and require him to disclose seven years of personal and financial documents in the absence of allegations and findings of sufficient contacts, decisions, or acts by him in any purported role and in light of Caroline's failure to properly serve him under Nevada's long arm statute. First, under the prior version of NRS 164.010, only *in* rem jurisdiction could have been obtained over a trust and its trustee - not *in* personam jurisdiction. The new change to NRS 164.010 through SB 484 provides evidence that *in personam* jurisdiction was not available prior to October 1, 2015.

Second, a theory of constructive trust is a remedy, which requires personal jurisdiction over a person to put property in trust for another. The DC's assumption of jurisdiction under this theory was improper because jurisdiction had not yet been exercised before the constructive trust was created. The DC does not currently have *in rem* jurisdiction over the trust or the parties. Furthermore, the condition precedent to move the FHT situs to Nevada was absent, invalidating the

7

11

12 13

14 15

16 17

18

19

20 21

22

23 24

25

27

28

26

first amendment (as admitted by the trust's drafter), causing doubt as to whether the DC will have jurisdiction over FHT if this case is remanded.⁴⁰

Third, in personam jurisdiction is lacking over Christopher because proper service was lacking, no acts or claims were raised against him pertaining to his contact with Nevada or pertaining to any decisions or acts as a purported investment trust adviser, and jurisdiction is not reasonable. As a result, it is improper to force Christopher to disclose seven plus years of documents in his personal capacity, in any purported role as an investment trust adviser, or as an officer of FHT Holdings, LLC.

Fourth, even assuming arguendo that a Nevada Investment Trust Adviser is a type of trustee to which the DC could assume *in rem* jurisdiction, the assumption of *in personam* jurisdiction over Christopher as the Investment Trust Advisor was improper because decisions and acts had not been alleged pursuant to NRS 163.5555, and the requirements of due process were not satisfied. Caroline has not provided case law to support her proposed deviation from established jurisdictional precedent as articulated in Viega and Fulbright. Therefore, Christopher's motion to dismiss should have been granted and Christopher dismissed as a defendant for lack of proper jurisdiction.

⁴⁰ Appendix III: 391-392.

I.

ARGUMENT

Before October 1, 2015, NRS § 164.010 only provided for in rem jurisdiction over a trust and its trustee, not personal jurisdiction.

The prior version of NRS 164.010 (1) provides that a court may take jurisdiction of a trust as a proceeding *in rem*. Before October 1, 2015, when a court exercised jurisdiction over a trust pursuant to this statute, it did so in an *in rem* capacity. Although this case is controlled by the previous version of NRS § 164.010, the newest changes to NRS § 164.010 shed additional light on the jurisdictional issues that existed at the time this case was filed (pre-October 1, 2015).

At the last legislative session, the Nevada legislature made changes to NRS § 164.010 through Senate Bill 484 ("SB 484"), eliminating the requirement that the court must appoint a trustee at the time it assumes jurisdiction over a trust as a proceeding *in rem*. With this change, however, SB 484 added a new statutory section which mandates that a court can exercise personal jurisdiction over a person under Section 59. This provides evidence that personal jurisdiction was not automatically available in prior versions of NRS Chapter 164 and thus a constitutional analysis, such as those found in *Viega* and *Fulbright*, would be required before personal jurisdiction could be assumed over the persons addressed in Section 59.

Further, the persons mentioned in Section 59 are trustees or co-trustees, while trust protectors or trust investment advisers are noticeably absent. In this same bill, the SB 484 drafters included the definition of a "directing trust adviser" as being specifically a trust adviser or trust protector; ⁴¹ however, any references to personal jurisdiction over either of these individuals is lacking in Section 59. If personal jurisdiction would have been intended to be given to a trust protector or trust adviser under Section 59, the Legislature could have included these individuals (or their defined term: "directing trust adviser") from Section 42, but the Legislature did not. Therefore, personal jurisdiction under the new NRS 164.010 would extend only to trustees or co-trustees, if at all.⁴²

Likewise, Section 25 of SB 484, which is a completely new addition to Chapter 155, provides evidence that personal jurisdiction was not available prior to October 1, 2015 to any party. After October 1, 2015, Section 25 provides that

- 1. In a proceeding involving the estate of a decedent or a testamentary trust, the court has jurisdiction over the assets of the estate or trust as a proceeding in rem.
- 2. In addition to any other basis for claiming jurisdiction over a person, the court has <u>personal jurisdiction</u> over each person:
- (a) Who is appointed as a personal representative by the court;
- (b) Whose appointment as a trustee is confirmed by the court;

⁴¹See Section 42 of SB 484.

⁴² It is strongly believed that constitutional implications are raised regarding whether mailed service pursuant to NRS 155.010 is adequate to allow the DC to automatically assume <u>personal</u> jurisdiction over a trustee or co-trustee.

- (c) Who files with the court a petition, a motion, other than a motion for dismissal for lack of jurisdiction, an objection or a joinder to a petition or motion;
- (d) Who makes an appearance at a hearing of a proceeding involving the estate of a decedent or a testamentary trust, unless the appearance is made solely for the purpose of objecting to the jurisdiction of the court; or
- (e) Who is a party to a proceeding commenced by a petition filed pursuant to NRS 153.031 if notice is given pursuant to NRS 155.010. (Emphasis added)

Again, this provides evidence that, before October 1, 2015, personal jurisdiction was not available to parties to a proceeding commenced by a petition filed pursuant to NRS 153.031 through mailed notice. Therefore, the Court did not automatically have <u>personal</u> jurisdiction over the parties to this proceeding, including, but not limited to, Christopher through mailed notice.

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