IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed Case No.: 6854Mar 07 2016 11:02 a.m. CHRISTOPHER D. DAVIS, Tracie K. Lindeman Eighth Judicial District Subreme Cou Case No.: P-15-083867-T (In re the Beatrice B. Davis Family Heritage Trust, dated July 28, 2000) Appellant, CAROLINE DAVIS, Respondent. RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, LTD. Mark A. Solomon, Esq. Bar No. 0418 Joshua M. Hood, Esq., Bar No. 12777 9060 West Cheyenne Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89129 Telephone: 702/853-5483 Facsimile: 702/853-5485

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Christopher lacks standing to appeal the DC's Initial Order as NRS 155.190(1)(h) is expressly limited to the appeal of orders "instructing or appointing a trustee". Christopher, who is the Investment Trust Advisor of the Trust, is not the "trustee". Additionally, Christopher lacks standing to appeal the DC's Initial Order under NRAP 3A(a) as he is not an "aggrieved" party. Indeed, Christopher was integrally involved with the creation and implementation of the First Amendment, acknowledged and consented to serve as Investment Trust Advisor under NRS 163.5543, and expressly assumed the fiduciary duties that accompanied such capacity upon his acceptance to serve. Contrary to

Christopher's assertions, Ms. Davis has not sought any personal financial information from Christopher unrelated to the Trust and his capacity as a fiduciary thereof. Rather, Ms. Davis has consistently sought information and documentation related to the Trust and the assets and investment thereof – the assets that Christopher is charged with managing as Investment Trust Advisor, and the information and documentation which he is required to disclose pursuant to his fiduciary obligations.

- 2. The DC did not err when it assumed *in persona* jurisdiction over Christopher, as Investment Trust Advisor of a Nevada trust, as Christopher: (1) submitted to the jurisdiction of the State of Nevada under NRS 163.5555; (2) maintained systematic and continuous contact in the State of Nevada by virtue of his tenure as Investment Trust Advisor of a Nevada trust and as sole Manager of FHT Holdings, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company wholly owned by the Trust, and enjoys the benefits and protections of the laws of the State of Nevada; and (3) received sufficient notice as provided by Nevada law of the matter reasonably calculated to apprise him of the same, and which notice also provided him with sufficient time to appear and defend.
- 3. The DC did not err in granting and filing the Amended Order. The DC based its findings and orders on the pleadings, the evidence presented, and the oral arguments of the parties' counsel throughout the duration of this matter.

Indeed, the findings presented in the Amended Order are supported by the record, and the orders contained therein are consistent with the same.

ARGUMENTS

- I. Christopher Lacks Standing To Appeal Under NRS 155.190(1)(h) And Under NRAP 3A(a) & (b).
 - A. Christopher Is Not A "Trustee" Entitled To Appeal The DC's Order Pursuant To NRS 155.190(1)(h).

NRS 155.190, entitled "Appealable orders", in relevant part, provides that "an appeal may be taken to the appellate court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to the rules fixed by the Supreme Court pursuant to Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada constitution within 30 days after the notice of entry of an order...instructing or appointing a **trustee**." NRS 155.190(1)(h). It is important to note that Christopher is the Investment Trust Advisor, and not the Trustee.

Although Christopher argues that DC "is, in effect, treating Christopher as a trustee", 72 the DC has never made a finding or order that Christopher is anything other than the Investment Trust Advisor. 73 Other than this misplaced argument, Christopher has not cited any authority giving him, the Investment Trust Advisor, the right to appeal under a statute specifically referencing a

⁷² See, Appellant's Supplemental Opening Brief, at p. 29:4-5.

³ See, Appendix: III: 443, lines 22-24; see also, Respondent's Appendix: RAPP 47, lines 17-19; RAPP 48, lines 18-19; RAPP 52, lines 3-4.

"trustee". As such, Christopher lacks standing to appeal under NRS 155.190(1)(h).

B. The DC's Initial Order And Amended Order Are Not Final, Appealable Orders Under NRAP 3A(b), And Christopher Is Not An "Aggrieved Party" Entitled To Appeal Under NRAP 3A(a).

NRAP 3A(b), sets forth a list of specific determinations made in a civil action that may be appealed. Nothing in NRAP 3A(b) authorizes Christopher, as an Investment Trust Advisor, to appeal the Initial Order or the Amended Order. Indeed, pursuant to NRAP 3A(b), only specific "orders" may be appealed.⁷⁴

As this Court has recognized, it is a "court of limited appellate jurisdiction. Specifically, this court has jurisdiction to entertain an appeal only where an appeal is authorized by statute or court rule." Although this Court has generally "looked past labels in interpreting NRAP 3A(b)(1)", 6 the Initial Order and Amended Order are not final, appealable orders. Indeed, this Court has held that "a final, appealable judgment [or order] is one that disposes of the issues presented in the case [] and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court." The Initial Order and Amended Order are not "final" orders as they do

⁷⁴ See, NRAP 3A(b)

⁷⁵ <u>Valley Bank of Nevada v. Ginsburg</u>, 110 Nev. 440, 444, 874 P.2d 729, 732 (Nev. 1994).

⁷⁶ *Id.*, at 445, 874 P.2d, at 733.

⁷⁷ *Id.* (internal quotations omitted) (internal citations omitted).

567

8 9

11

10

1213

14

1516

17

18

1920

21

2223

24

25

2627

28

not resolve the matters before the DC and "leave nothing for future consideration" or are otherwise not "final judgments.

Assuming arguendo that the Initial Order and/or the Amended Order is/are substantively appealable under NRAP 3A(b), this Court has recognized that "NRAP 3A(a) limits the rights of appeal to 'part[ies] aggrieved' by a district court's decision."⁷⁸ "A party is 'aggrieved' within the meaning of NRAP 3A(a) 'when either a personal right or right of property is adversely and substantially affected' by the district court's ruling." Christopher has no "personal rights" or "rights of property" that stand to be adversely affected by the DC's Initial Order or Amended Order. Although Christopher has consistently misrepresented that Ms. Davis is seeking his personal documents; 80 Ms. Davis has only ever sought information related to the Trust and the assets and investments thereof,⁸¹ which includes information in the Investment Trust Advisor's records from entities other than the Trust that concern or relate to any business transaction with the Trust. 82 Christopher, as Investment Trust Advisor, and a Fiduciary of the Trust, cannot be said to be an "aggrieved" party when he expressly consented to act as

⁷⁸ *Id.*, at 446, 874 P.2d, at 734.

⁷⁹ *Id.* (quoting Estate of Hughes v. First Nat'l Bank, 96 Nev. 178, 180, 605 P.2d 1146, 1150 (1980) (emphasis added).

See, Appellant's Opening Brief, at p. 6:5; p. 20:20-21, p. 23:14-15; see also, Appellant's Supplemental Opening Brief, at p. 19:16; and p. 28:7-8.

See, Appendix I: 10, ¶ 5.
 See, Appendix: VI: 912-915 (subpoena requesting all non-privileged records believed to be related to or concerning the Trust).

8

9

1213

1415

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

2324

25

27

28

26

Investment Trust Advisor and assumed the fiduciary obligations accompanying such position – i.e. the obligation of full disclosure.

Moreover, Christopher was integrally involved with the implementation of the First Amendment and had full knowledge of the facts and circumstances⁸³ regarding: (1) his designation as a Fiduciary under NRS 163.554; (2) his acceptance to serve as Investment Trust Advisor under NRS 163.5543; (3) his submission to the jurisdiction of the State of Nevada under NRS 163.5555; and (4) his consent to serve as the sole Manager of FHT Holdings, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company wholly owned by the Trust. Being keenly aware of the same, Christopher cannot, in good conscience, argue that he is an "aggrieved" party when compelled to disclose documents relating to a trust of which he is a This, coupled with the fact that Ms. Davis is not seeking Fiduciary. Christopher's personal financial information, refutes any contention that Christopher is an "aggrieved" party within the meaning of NRAP 3A(a); therefore, he lacks standing to appeal thereunder.

II. The DC Properly Assumed *In Personam* Jurisdiction Over Christopher, As Investment Trust Advisor Of The Trust.

In the event that this Court is inclined to entertain Christopher's appeal and/or his Writ, Christopher's relief should nonetheless be denied as the DC

⁸³ See, Appendix V: 810, lines 10-20, and 811, lines 1-9; see also, Appendix V: 830-836.

properly assumed in personam jurisdiction over him, as Investment Trust Advisor.

A. Christopher Submitted To The Jurisdiction Of The State Of Nevada Upon His Acceptance To Serve As Investment Trust Advisor Of A Nevada Trust.

As fully set forth above, the First Amendment was validly executed and not only effectively transferred situs of the Trust from Alaska to Nevada, but also appointed Christopher as "Investment Trust Advisor" under NRS 163.5543. According to the First Amendment, Christopher was simultaneously designated as a "Fiduciary" of the Trust under NRS 163.554, which includes the assumption of the fiduciary obligations accompanying such position. 87

Upon his acceptance to serve as Investment Trust Advisor, Christopher submitted to the jurisdiction of the State of Nevada under NRS 163.5555. NRS 163.5555 provides as follows:

"If a person accepts an appointment to serve as a trust protector or a trust adviser of a trust subject to the laws of this State, the person submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of this State,

^{21 |} 22 |

See, Appendix IX: 1451, lines 5-8; see also, Respondent's Appendix: RAPP 49, at ¶ 11.

⁸⁵ See, Appendix I: 136-137.

⁸⁶ See, Appendix I: 136-137.

[&]quot;Once someone assumes a duty they would not otherwise have, either by contract or conduct, he or she may be held liable in tort if an injury results from a negligent performance of the assumed duty." Robert T. McLean Irrevocable Trust v. Patrick Davis, P.C., 283 S.W.3d 786, 794 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009) (citing Bowan ex rel. Bowan v. Express Medical Transporters, Inc., 135 S.W.3d, 452, 457-458 (Mo. Ct. App. 2004).

<u>regardless of any term to the contrary in an agreement or instrument</u>. A trust protector or a trust adviser may be made a party to an action or proceeding arising out of a decision or action of the trust protector or trust adviser." (emphasis added).

Christopher's acceptance to serve as Investment Trust Advisor, therefore, satisfies his submission to the jurisdiction of the State of Nevada, and consequently to the DC. Although Christopher has asserted that the DC never made any findings that Christopher performed any "acts" which would permit Ms. Davis to add Christopher as a party to this matter under NRS 163.5555, 88 the Initial Order, drafted by Christopher's counsel, specifically states that "IT IS FOUND that since the first amendment, Christopher has been directing the trust in Nevada..." Moreover, Christopher did act in Nevada in April, 2014 when he acted to obtain additional loans from the Trust to: (1) the Revocable Trust in the amount of \$59,000.00; (2) the DFO in the amount of \$231,000.00; and (3) himself in the amount of \$199,000.00, after the Trust was moved to Nevada.

⁸⁹ See, Appendix III: 443, lines 13-14.

⁸⁸ See, Writ, p. 5:13-14.

⁹⁰ See, Appendix V: 773-774 (April 9, 2014 email from Shanna Coressel, Dunham Trust Officer, stating "Chris, I think you can take the proverbial 'bull by the horns' and move forward with the funding you need."); and Appendix V: 776 (April 29, 2014 Email from Mr. Lehnardt to Shanna Coressel and Christopher stating "Following is the amount of the interim draw request: \$489,500. The allocation for existing FHT loan purposes is among:

Beatrice RLT \$59,000

LLC [DFO] \$231,000

10 11

12 13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24

Chris

25

26

27

28

⁹¹ See, Appendix I: 135-144.

⁹² See, Appendix V: 729-739 and 778-779.

\$199,500").

93 See, Appendix V: 771.

⁹⁴ See, Appendix I: 152, at § 2.2(d).

⁹⁵ See, Appendix I: 154, at § 2.10.

⁹⁶ See. Appendix I: 163, at § 10.2.

Based upon the foregoing, Christopher expressly submitted to the jurisdiction of the State of Nevada and to the jurisdiction of the DC.

B. Christopher Maintained Systematic And Continuous Contact With The State Of Nevada, Thereby Giving The DC Both General And Specific Personal Jurisdiction Over Him.

Christopher has been serving as the Investment Trust Advisor of a Nevada trust since February 24, 2014.⁹¹ Additionally, since March 28, 2014, Christopher has been serving as the sole Manager of FHT Holdings, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company that is wholly owned by the Trust. 92 Indeed, FHT Holdings, LLC, is the current owner of the Trust's primary asset (i.e. the Policy). 93 As manager of FHT Holdings, Christopher has presumably filed federal tax returns on behalf of said entity. Additionally, Christopher's service as sole Manager of FHT Holdings, LLC vests in him the authority to: (1) terminate the Policy;⁹⁴ (2) change the beneficiary;⁹⁵ and (3) make additional loans from the Policy.⁹⁶ Christopher's continued service as Investment Trust Advisor and sole Manager of FHT Holdings, LLC for over two (2) years thereby constitutes substantial and minimum contacts with Nevada. As such,

Christopher is subject DC's jurisdiction, and assumption of *in personam* jurisdiction over him will not "offend traditional notions of fair play and justice."

Christopher's two (2) year, continuous contacts with the State of Nevada authorized the DC to assume general personal jurisdiction over him, as Investment Trust Advisor. This Court has stated that "general personal jurisdiction exists when the defendant's forum state activities are so substantial or **continuous and systematic** that it is considered present in that forum and thus subject to suit there, even though the suit's claims are unrelated to that forum."

As such, Christopher's continued service as Investment Trust Advisor of a Nevada trust and as sole Manager of a Nevada limited liability company satisfies the requirements for general personal jurisdiction, even though the information and documentation sought by Ms. Davis was generated outside of the State of Nevada. To find otherwise would allow Christopher to be afforded the protections of Nevada laws while skirting accountability for his actions.

Additionally, the DC also has specific personal jurisdiction over Christopher as the Investment Trust Advisor. As this Court has stated, "specific

⁸ Arbella Mut. Ins. Co. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 509, 513, 134 P.3d 710, 712 (2006).

⁷ <u>Fulbright & Jaworski v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.</u>, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 342 P.3d 997 (Nev. 2015) (internal quotations omitted) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

jurisdiction is proper only where the cause of action arises from the defendant's contact with the forum." "In other words, in order to exercise specific personal jurisdiction over a nonresident, the defendant must purposefully avail himself of the privilege of acting in the forum state or of causing important consequences in that state. The cause of action must arise from the consequences in the forum state of the defendant's activities, and those activities, or the consequences thereof, must have substantial enough connection with the forum state to make the exercise of jurisdiction over the defendant reasonable."

The requisites for specific personal jurisdiction over Christopher, as Investment Trust Advisor, are satisfied in this matter. Christopher is the Investment Trust Advisor and a Fiduciary¹⁰¹ of a Nevada trust, and has purposefully availed himself of the privilege of serving in such capacity in the State of Nevada.¹⁰² Indeed, it was Christopher's failure to provide the

⁹⁹ <u>Fulbright</u>, 342 P.3d, at 1002. (internal quotations omitted) (internal citations omitted).

Fulbright, 342 P.3d, at 1002. (internal quotations omitted) (internal citations omitted).

¹⁰¹ NRS 163.554 defines a "Fiduciary" as "a trustee or custodian under any instrument, or an executor, administrator or personal representative of a decedent's estate or any other person, <u>including an investment trust adviser</u>, trust protector or a trust committee which is acting in a fiduciary capacity for any person, trust or estate." (emphasis added).

¹⁰² See, Appendix I: 142 (Christopher's acknowledgment and consent to the First Amendment and its terms, including designation of Christopher as Investment Trust Advisor)

information and documentation of a Nevada trust that precipitated the instant action in this State.

As a Fiduciary of this Nevada trust, Christopher also has fiduciary obligations to the Trust and the beneficiaries thereof (i.e. Ms. Davis). According to Black's Law Dictionary, a "fiduciary duty" is "[a] duty to act for someone else's benefit, while subordinating one's personal interests to that of the other person. It is the highest standard of duty implied by law (e.g. trustee, guardian). ¹⁰³

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